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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                               Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	JAMIE C. JAMES, 

                                                   Employee, 

                                                            Applicant

                                                   v. 

ALCAN BUILDERS, INC.,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

ALASKA NATIONAL INSURANCE CO.,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                            Defendants.
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)
	          FINAL

          DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  200118548
        AWCB Decision No. 04-0306 

         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         on December 27, 2004


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) heard this matter on November 3, 2004, in Anchorage, Alaska.  The employee appeared and represented himself.  Attorney Timothy McKeever represented the employer and insurer (“employer”).  The record remained open until November 19, 2004, for submission, at the Board’s request, of the documents completed by the employer upon hiring the employee.  The record closed when the Board next met, on November 30, 2004.


ISSUES
1. Under AS 23.30.220, which formula should be used to compute the employee’s compensation rate?

2. Is the employee entitled to temporary total disability (“TTD”) benefits from April 14, 2002 through 
June 23, 2002?

3. Is the employee entitled to TTD benefits from October 7, 2002 through April 10, 2003?

4. Is the employer responsible for continuing medical costs for chiropractic care?

5. Is the employee entitled to medical costs of approximately $200.00 incurred during a period when the employee’s benefits were controverted?

6. Is the employee entitled to penalties under AS 23.30.155(c) and interest under AS 23.30.155(p)?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

The employer filed an affidavit of readiness for hearing in this matter on June 8, 2004.  The employee has made a claim for TTD benefits from April 14, 2002 through June 23, 2002, and from October 7, 2002 through April 10, 2003.  Additionally, the employee claims entitlement to past medical benefits in the sum of $200.00 and to continuing medical benefits for chiropractic care recommended by his attending physician.  The employee challenges the compensation rate computation under the temporary worker formula.  He challenges the date of medical stability.  Finally, he claims he is entitled to penalties and interest.

The Board requested copies of the documents completed at the time the employee was hired by the employer.  At hearing the employee expressed his belief the documents would reveal his status with the employer was a permanent full-time employee.  The documents contained in the employee’s personnel file were the following:

1.  Alcan Builders Inc. Employee Information

2. W-4 Form

3. Health Safety & Standard Operating Guidelines Sign In Sheet

4. Health Questionnaire.

The documents contain no information regarding the employee’s status, and do not indicate if the employee was a permanent or a full time employee of the employer.

On August 27, 2001, the employee’s first day of work for the employer, while waiting for a safety meeting to begin, the employee was struck on the back left side of his head by a 2 x 4 that had been serving as a brace and became dislodged.
  The injury was initially treated with a band-aid at the Copper Center Princess Lodge Jobsite.

A.
Medical History

The employee sought medical treatment on September 10, 2001 from Derek A. Hagen, D.O.  The employee presented to Dr. Hagen with complaints of occasional headaches, pain in the left side of his head, his neck, right shoulder and right arm.
  Additionally, Dr. Hagen noted the employee complained that his right arm frequently went numb, especially when he leaned forward on his elbows.
  With regard to the employee’s vision Dr. Hagen reported:

He denies . . . double vision or visual changes, other than some vision blurriness, which he has noticed progressively over the past several months, if not years.  He reports previously he was told he had 20/10 vision, but he feels it is not that sharp anymore.  It may have gotten a little worse since the accident, but he is not sure.
  

Dr. Hagen diagnosed concussion, cervicalgia, radicular pain right upper extremity.
  A “next treatment date” was not scheduled; the estimated length of treatment was eight weeks; Dr. Hagen did not find the employee to be medically stable; found the employee’s impairment rating was mild; and it was undetermined if the injury would result in a permanent impairment.
  Dr. Hagen released the employee to return to regular work on 
September 10, 2001.
  However, on September 11, 2001, Dr. Hagen ordered the employee off work from September 11 through September 18, 2001, due to the work injury.

On September 21, 2001, the employee presented to Dr. Hagen for follow-up on his concussion.  At the time, the employee reported he was much better, had no problems with physical activity; but noted that his vision continued to be a little blurry and was not as sharp as it used to be.
  Dr. Hagen’s diagnosis was concussion.
  He cleared the employee to return to regular work duties and suggested the employee follow-up with an optometrist or ophthalmologist if his vision continued to be a problem or worsened.
  Dr. Hagen found the employee to be medically stable and determined he had no impairment rating.
  

Vickie Willis, D.C., treated the employee for the first time on October 22, 2001.  Dr. Willis found the employee’s range of motion stiff and guarded.
  On October 23, 2001, when treated by Dr. Willis, the employee’s range of motion was slightly improved, but there was increased inflammation.
  Dr. Willis saw the employee again on October 25, 2001.  On this visit, the employee felt better, range of motion was increased and there was no edema.
  The Physician’s Report submitted for these three visits indicated the employee had a “traumatically induced strain/sprain of the cervical dorsal spine associated with segmental dysfunction and neuritis.”
  It was estimated the employee require 12 months of treatment, and Dr. Willis indicated the employee was not medically stable.
  The October 30, 2001 Physician’s Report noted the employee was released to return to regular work with a 20 pound lifting limitation and rest, as needed.

Dr. Willis saw the employee again on November 7, 2001, and continued to find the employee was not medically stable.
  The employee was again released to return to regular work with identical restrictions as ordered on his previous visits with Dr. Willis, specifically, a 20 pound lifting limitation and rest, as needed.

The employee was not found medically stable when seen on November 12, 2001, by Dr. Willis.  The “Released for Work” portion of the Physician’s Report continued to state the employee was released to return to regular work with a 20 pound lifting limitation and rest, as needed.
  However, the section allowing for an explanation of the treatment plan, and the reason for frequency of treatment, contained the following:

With the results of the radiologists report, Jamie’s original work release was incorrect.  He would have at least been off work for 8 to 12 weeks.  He would just now be returning to work as noted above.

The Physician’s Report indicated the x-ray diagnosis was odontiod fracture.

Susan L. Vlasuk, D.C., DACBR, provided a second opinion radiologic consultation for the x-rays of the employee taken on October 23, 2001.  Dr. Vlasuk found the following:

A subtle radiolucent line is noted across the base of the odontoid from both the sagittal and frontal perspectives, not appearing to represent a mach line.  From the sagittal perspective, there is barely perceptible anterior displacement of the odontoid with respect to the body of C2.  No displacement is evident in the frontal perspectives.  With the patient’s head in the neutral position from the sagittal perspective, there is an absence of normal cervical lordosis.  There is barely perceptible disc space narrowing at C-5/C6, but remaining cervical disc spaces are well maintained, and no unusual facet hypertrophy can be detected.

Dr. Vlasuk’s impression was, “Suggested undisplaced Type II odontoid fracture.  This does not have the appearance of a mach line.  Oblique projections may be helpful for confirmation.”
  Additionally, Dr. Vlasuck’s impressions continued as follows:

2. No other evidence of fracture, Frank dislocation, or gross occeous pathology.

3. Barely-perceptible degenerative discopathy at C5/C6.

4. Cervical hypolordosis.

Additional cervical view x-rays of the employee were taken on November 12, 2001, and compared with the prior three cervical views taken on October 23, 2001.  After comparing the x-rays, Dr. Vlasuk found:

The odontoid process has an identical appearance to that previously described.  The suggested fracture line is again clearly depicted on the two oblique projections.  Again this does not have the appearance of a mach line, nor does it have the appearance of a persistent synchondrosis.  It is completely stable upon flexion and extension, showing no translational motion and no angulation.

After having compared the October 23rd and November 12th x-ray views, Dr. Vlasuck’s impression was that because the October 23rd views were taken two months after the injury, the odontoid segment was stable, and the employee was neurologically intact.
  Dr. Vlasuck indicated no further evaluation was required.

Upon the employee’s November 19 and 21, 2001 visits to Dr. Willis the estimated length of further treatment was reduced to 11 months, he was not found to be medically stable, and he continued to be released to return to regular work with the 20 pound lifting limit and rest, as needed.
  Dr. Willis’s completed Physician’s Reports for the employee’s visits for treatment from November 26, 2001 through January 7, 2002.  The reports were identical to that of November 26, 2001.  The only field that changed was the estimated length of treatment.
  

Dr. Hagen drafted a letter to the employee dated December 4, 2001, outlining his treatment of the employee.  His stated purpose for writing the letter was to provide notice that based upon the belated findings of an odontoid fracture, Dr. Hagen suspected that he improperly released the employee for work duties.
  Dr. Hagen stated that based upon his review of the employee’s medical history, the employee should have been excused from work September 7, 8, and 10, due to his back injury.

Dr. Willis drafted a letter on December 17, 2001 to Alaska National Insurance Company, which stated:

After reviewing the radiology report of 10/23/01, I immediately should have changed Mr. James work release to no work duty until I reviewed the second radiology report on 11/12/01.  After reviewing the 11/12/01 report, I should have modified Mr. James’ work release to light-duty: no lifting over 20 lbs., no extended standing, sitting, or bending. . . .

Because he continues to have neck pain with increased activity, I would still consider him to be on modified work duty, although we are increasing his therapeutic exercises and work hardening.

On January 8, 2002, Francine M. Pulver, M.D., evaluated the employee for ongoing neck and right arm pain.  Dr. Pulver ordered a MRI of the employee's neck and brain to rule out any abnormalities which would attribute to the employee's ongoing symptoms, including neck pain, stiffness, headaches, and numbness and soreness in the right arm.
  MRIs
 of the employee's brain and brainstem, and cervical spine were taken on January 11, 2002.  The MRIs of the employee's head and cervical spine were normal.
  Dr. Pulver recommended the employee receive an eye exam from an optometrist or ophthalmologist to further evaluate his blurry vision.

G.R. Humphreys, O.D., evaluated the employee’s blurry vision on January 16, 2002.
  Dr. Humphreys’ diagnosis was accommodative spasm.
  After the examination, it was undetermined if the employee’s blurry vision was work related; Dr. Humphreys stated, “Probably but difficult to determine w/out past history.”
  Dr. Humphreys indicated the employee was medically stable and that the injury would not preclude the employee from returning to his job, nor would the injury result in a permanent impairment.
  Dr. Humphreys provided the employee with reassurance and education.
  Dr. Humphreys’ found the vision in the employee’s right eye was 20/20. 
  Dr. Humphreys’ assessment was, “normal state,” and he indicated the employee’s condition should resolve slowly over time.

The employee continued to receive chiropractic care from Dr. Willis.
  Physician’s Reports submitted indicated Dr. Willis continued to be unable to determine if the employee would be permanently precluded from returning to his job or if the injury would result in a permanent impairment.
  In February 2002, Dr. Willis indicated the employee would be leaving the state for several months and would seek care of out state.

At the employer’s request, Stephen Marble, M.D., Physiatrist, of The Independent Medical Evaluators (“T.I.M.E.”), conducted an evaluation of the employee on February 5, 2002.  Dr. Marble reviewed the employee’s two sets of cervical x-ray films.  Dr. Marble indicated the October 23, 2001 cervical open-mouth view showed a faint lucency at the base of the odontoid; but he was unable to determine with a degree of confidence whether that was a shadow or if it represented an undisplaced Type II odontoid fracture.
  
Dr. Marble found the atlanto-dens
 interval to be normal, cervical alignment was normal, and there was no appreciable separation or malalignment of the C1 lateral mass.
  Under Dr. Marble’s reading, the November 12, 2001 cervical films showed no gross instability, the atlanto-dens interval remained stable, and the lucency at the base of the odontoid was less distinct.

Dr. Marble’s diagnostic impression for the employee’s condition directly related to the August 27, 2001 work injury was concussion without residuals, scalp laceration, cervical sprain with question of type II non-displaced odontoid fracture, and possible resolving spinal cord contusion.
  Dr. Marble did not identify any diagnostic impression for the employee’s complaints that were not related to the August 27, 2001 work injury.
  
Dr. Marble opined the August 27, 2001 injury was not a temporary aggravation of a pre-existing condition.
  Based upon the serious nature of a Type II odontoid fracture with the risk for nonunion, neurological compromise, and atlanto-axial instability, Dr. Marble recommended radiology review by a board-certified radiologist, as opposed to a chiropractor.
  Dr. Marble stated:

I cannot confirm the Type II odontoid fracture on my own review today.  A CT scan or bone scan may be required to rule in or out a 
fracture at this stage.  Were the radiologist to also question stability of the spine, I would then recommend neurosurgical review in conjunction.

Once cervical spine stability is confirmed, I would then recommend a short course of physical therapy to work on range of motion and spine stabilization strengthening (approximately 6 to 8 visits).

Additional chiropractic care is not indicated. 

Dr. Marble did not believe that the employee's injuries had reached a point of medical stability.
  He opined that once spine stability was confirmed, and physical therapy completed, the employee's range of motion could improve modestly; he also expected sensory signs in the right upper extremity to resolve within three months because the employee was recovering fully from a questionable spinal cord contusion.
  Dr. Marble opined that medical stability was expected within three months.
  

Dr. Marble did not anticipate that the employee would qualify for a permanent partial impairment rating when he reached medical stability.
  Further, Dr. Marble anticipated that the employee would have the physical capacity to return to his usual occupation as a carpenter once the spine stability had been confirmed, and the recommended brief course of rehabilitation completed.
  However, Dr. Marble indicated the employee should not be released to return to strenuous work in any position if there was risk for trauma to the head and neck until the spine stability had been confirmed through radiology and/or neurosurgical review.

On April 26, 2002, the employer controverted the employee’s temporary total disability (“TTD”) benefits because Dr. Willis, the employee’s attending physician, had not treated the employee since February 7, 2002.  The following reasons were provided for the controversion: 

Patient has not scheduled any further appointments.  Dr. Willis's office indicated that the patient has left Alaska.  Carrier/Employer had no contact advising of address or physician change.  No medical to authorize ongoing disability from work.

No medical evidence of objectively measurable improvement within 45 day period.  Medical Stability is presumed for AS 23.30.395(21).

IME of February 5, 2002 anticipated medical stability within 3 months, no PPI anticipated.

The employee returned from being out of state and began treating on a regular basis with Dr. Willis again on June 24, 2002.  Dr. Willis did not find the employee to be medically stable and it was still undetermined if the August 27, 2001 injury would permanently preclude the employee from returning to his job as a carpenter, or if the injury would result in a permanent impairment.
  The employee continued to be released to regular work with limitations of lifting no more than 20 pounds and rest, as needed.
  The report noted:

Mr. James has just returned from being out of the state for several months.  During that time he did not have treatment to his travel schedule of only being in an area for short periods of time.  During that time the status of his condition deteriorated.  He's now back to approximate 
pre-travel level of improvement.

In a letter dated July 24, 2002, to Alaska National Insurance Company, Dr. Willis indicated that the employee had developed a pattern of increased signs and symptoms with increased activity since returning from his trip out of state.  Additionally she mentioned that the employee's condition degenerated during that time when the employee was away and not receiving regular therapy.  Dr. Willis did not recommend increasing the employee's work status.  She indicated the employee should be limited to lifting no more than 20 pounds, and that he should rest, as needed.  She opined that even at the limited work duty, the employee might not be to sustain a full day's work.

On July 27, 2002, the employee was treated in the Cross Road Medical Center Emergency Room for pain shooting from the neck down his arms.
  The employee continued to treat with Dr. Willis.

On August 1, 2002, Dr. Willis responded to Alaska National Insurance Company to clarify that the time she filled out the October 22, 2001 work release she erroneously marked the form ‘regular work,’ when it should have been marked “modified or light-duty” with lifting limited to 20 pounds and rest, as needed.
  Dr. Willis went on to state:

Mr. James’ condition degenerated from his trip out of state this spring.  He then presented on Tuesday, 7/30/02 with a significant increase in signs and symptoms after shoveling the previous week.  After discussing this exacerbation with Dr. Pulver, she ordered a CT scan and will see 
Mr. James on Tuesday, August 6th.

CT examinations of the employee's head and spine were conducted on August 5, 2002.  The results of the CT scan of the employee’s head were negative.
  The CT scan of the employee’s spine revealed the odontoid was normal in appearance.  The CT scan revealed no bony abnormality for the cervical cranial junction or the cervical spine, the foraminal areas in the central canal appeared normal, and Robert Bridges, M.D., Radiologist, found no evident posterior disc disease.

On August 6, 2002, Dr. Pulver conducted an electrodiagnostic evaluation for the employee's complaints of neck pain and numbness in the right upper limb.  The studies conducted revealed evidence of a mild bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome; however, there was no evidence of brachial neuropathy or radiculopathy, nor did the findings completely explain the employee's ongoing symptoms for nearly a year after the injury.
  Dr. Pulver opined that the employee most likely had a mild traction injury to brachial plexus that occurred when his head was suddenly moved to the left.

On August 21, 2002, Dr. Pulver followed up with the employee, and found the employee's condition was unchanged from his last visit.  Dr. Pulver continued to believe the employee had a mild traction injury to the right brachial plexus contributing to his ongoing numbness and pain of the right upper limb.  She was doubtful that the employee's symptoms would completely resolve because they had continued for such a long time.  She opined the employee would likely need chronic treatment including possible chiropractic treatments and medication management.
  Dr. Pulver indicated that once the employee reached medical stability, he would benefit from a physical capacities examination and work-hardening program to enable the employee to return to gainful employment.

The employee continued treatment with Dr. Willis, and was seen at the Cross Road Medical Center in August and September 2002.

At the request of the employer, the employee was re-examined by Dr. Marble on September 6, 2002.  The employee reported to Dr. Marble that he felt his condition had worsened in the last seven months because he had been more active.  The employee reported to Dr. Marble that during his trip to the lower 48 in the spring, he noticed more stiffness in his neck; and upon his return to Alaska, he helped a friend with shoveling and experienced severe flare ups in his right upper extremity, but the pain and paresthesias abated with the administration of steroids.

Dr. Marble found the CT scan and electrodiagnostic studies to be relatively unrevealing.
  Upon examination of the employee’s cervical spine and upper extremities Dr. Marble found that facet and foraminal compression maneuvers were negative.
  Dr. Marble found the employee's thoracic outlet structures of normal tone; thoracic outlet compression and percussion were negative; and thoracic outlet syndrome maneuvers were negative for upper extremity change in pulses, color, and temperature.
  Dr. Marble conducted a neurological evaluation of the employee's upper extremities.  With manual muscle testing Dr. Marble graded the employee’s strength at 5/5 throughout other than a very subtle sense of weakness in the employee's right hand, which did not qualify for a full grade of loss.
  Dr. Marble found the employee’s sensation to be intact throughout his upper extremities.

Dr. Marble's diagnostic impression for the employee's complaints directly related to his work injury of August 27, 2001 were:

1. Concussion without residuals.

2. Scalp laceration.

3. Cervical sprain without definitive evidence of fracture.

4. Possible spinal cord contusion improbable brachial plexus stretch (without supportive electrodiagnostic evidence).

Dr. Marble opined the carpel tunnel syndrome was not related to the employee's August 27, 2001 injury.
  
Dr. Marble opined that no further treatment, diagnostic testing, or physician referral was necessary secondary to the employee's August 27, 2001 injury.
  Nor, in Dr. Marble’s opinion, was further chiropractic care indicated.
  

Dr. Marble opined the employee was medically stable as of the date of the re-evaluation, September 6, 2002.
  
Dr. Marble found that the employee qualified for a permanent partial impairment rating according to the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Fifth Edition, DRE cervicothoracic category II description; equivalent to five percent of the whole person.
  Additionally, Dr. Marble assigned a two percent whole person impairment rating for C8 root motor and sensory deficits consistent with the September 6, 2002 examination.
  The total whole person impairment rating for the employee was seven percent.

Dr. Marble found that given the employee’s nonverifiable radicular symptomatology, his regular work as a carpenter was not compatible with his condition.
  Dr. Marble opined it was unlikely the employee's objective signs or subjective symptoms would change significantly in the foreseeable future; that repetitive and strenuous use of the right upper extremity was contraindicated.  Dr. Marble recommended a permanent restriction of neck motion to extremes and no repetitive and strenuous use of the right upper extremity, such as that to be expected in the construction/carpentry profession.

The employee continued treatment with Dr. Willis and was seen on September 9, 17, 25, and 30, and October 7, 2002.
  Aside from the dates of treatment and report date, all the Physician’s Reports were identical and indicated the estimated length of further treatment was undetermined; the employee was not medically stable; it was undetermined if the injury would permanently preclude the employee from returning to the job held at the time of injury; it was undetermined if the injury would result in a permanent impairment; and that the employee was released to return to modified work on October 22, 2001 with a lifting limit of 20 pounds and rest, as needed.

At the request of the employer, Dr. Willis evaluated the employee’s status for therapy recommendations on February 3, 2003.  Dr. Willis indicated the employee’s condition had regressed without therapy.
  Dr. Willis noted the employee complained of increased neck, shoulder, arm, hand, and leg pain; and that the employee had right elbow complaints, which were not previously mentioned.

Upon examination, Dr. Willis found the most obvious change to be in the employee’s handwriting, which she indicated had significantly deteriorated.
  She observed the employee’s posture had become more stooped, with his head carried further forward.
  Dr. Willis also found a light marked area on the employee’s lateral superior right leg.  The employee denied injury to the area, but claimed it was the sorest area on his leg.
  Dr. Willis reported the results of muscle tests as follows:

There was obviously diminished muscle strength to 3+ of the entire right shoulder, elbow, forearm, wrist and hand.  Action of the right piriformis muscle was stiff.  Grip strength was markedly reduced to 3+ on the right.  He could not completely approximate his thumb and 5th or 4th digit on the right.

In addition, Dr. Willis measured the employee’s range of motion and conducted orthopedic testing.  She noted all range of motion was performed slowly due to the employee’s anticipation of pain.
  Cervical, low back, shoulder, elbow, and wrist orthopedic tests were conducted.  All orthopedic testing caused the employee pain.
  With regard to the wrist tests, Dr. Willis indicated it was difficult to determine if the swelling in the employee’s hands was associated with carpel tunnel or with a circulatory/neurological deficit of the extremity.
 

In summation, Dr. Willis stated:

After not having treatment for these past four months, I don’t think that he could return to light duty even in the field of teaching.  He certainly could not write on a chalkboard.  . . .

I would like Mr. James to have further diagnostic testing to better evaluate his condition and monitor his progress as he is showing a worsening neurological deficit.   . . .

Mr. James will need at least another six months of therapy.  In light of the obvious regression without therapy, I suggest more aggressive therapy including a more intensive daily program with deeper soft tissue and mobilization work and a more intensive work hardening exercise program in addition to manipulative therapy.

At the request of the employer, on April 15, 2003, Richard L. Peterson, D.C., Chiropractic Physician, performed an evaluation of the employee.  On that same date, Dr. Marble completed a review of additional medical records received since his February 5, 2002 evaluation of the employee.  The employee’s chief complaints at the time were:  stiff neck, soreness throughout the entirely of the right hand with ulnar half being the worst, blurriness in the right eye, headaches two to three times a week, cramping in the right leg continually for days, inability to lift the right shoulder above shoulder level, weakness in grip strength of the right hand, and sores on the right hand do not heal as rapidly.
  During the evaluation, the report from Alaska Open Imaging indicating the employee’s odontoid is normal was reviewed with the employee.

Range of motion measurements of the employee’s cervical spine were performed and recorded.  Using the double inclinometer method of measurement, the employee’s right rotation was 38(; however, it was noted that when the employee was not being formally measured, his right rotation was at least 70( bilaterally.

Active range of motion of the employee’s shoulders was measured.  Impingement testing to flexion/adduction and adduction/internal rotation was negative in both shoulders; there was moderate crepitation
 in the employee’s right shoulder, and none in the employee’s left shoulder.
  The passive range of motion of both shoulders was unremarkable.
  

Upper extremity measurements were taken at which time it was noted that the fingertips of both of the employee’s hands were slightly callused.
  The employee’s radial pulses were palpable and neurovascular compression tests were negative.
  Neurological evaluation of the employee’s upper extremities revealed strength in the upper extremities of 5/5.
  However, the employee’s left hand grip strengths were 142, 130, and 135 pounds; while his right hand grip strength measurements were 40, 35, and 40 pounds.
  Sensory examination of the employee revealed the Phalen test was negative for carpel tunnel syndrome symptoms; pinprick to both upper extremities was unremarkable; however, light touch was reported to cause pain on the second through 5th metacarpals of the employee's right hand with the pain increasing as the examiner moved laterally.
  

An x-ray and diagnostic study interpretation was conducted.  Drs. Peterson and Marble opined that cervical spine films taken November 12, 2001, revealed a normal cervical spine.
  Further, Drs. Peterson and Marble opined the January 11, 2002 MRI of the employee’s brain was unremarkable.
  Upon review of Dr. McCormick’s radiological report, which indicated no cervical spine fracture, but a subchondral synchonodrosis at the base of the dens, Drs. Peterson and Marble’s continued to opine the MRI of the employee’s brain was unremarkable.

Drs. Peterson and Marble diagnosed the employee with the following:

1.
History of scalp laceration.

2.
History of cervical strain.

3.
Multiple subjective complaints not substantiated by objective findings.

Drs. Peterson and Marble opined that the employee had a scalp laceration and cervical strain from the work injury of August 27, 2001.
  When asked to specifically address Dr. Pulver's diagnosis of bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome and mild traction injury to the employee's right brachial plexus, and whether the August 27, 2001 work injury was a substantial factor in bringing about those conditions, Drs. Peterson and Marble indicated there was no evidence of bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome at the time of the examination; and, further, of those two diagnoses, only the right brachial plexus injury would be thought to have possibly been related to the work injury of 
August 27, 2001.

Drs. Peterson and Marble opined that the employee was at maximum medical stability.  They further opined the employee did not have a seven percent whole person impairment.
  Drs. Peterson and Marble based their opinion upon the findings of the evaluation of the employee, and stated as follows:

The size of this individual’s right arm belies his alleged weakness of the right upper extremity.  His reported deterioration of his condition is inconsistent with the healing of soft tissue injuries.  There are only diffuse neurological findings on today's examination and, in fact, the diffuseness of these findings does not anatomically correlate.  Thus, it is not felt that there is a 7 % whole person impairment.

Drs. Peterson and Marble indicated further treatment and diagnostic testing was not indicated.
  They found it reasonable that tests were performed to rule out odontoid fracture, but opined the employee definitely did not have odontoid fracture.

Drs. Peterson and Marble reviewed DOT descriptions with the jobs of Carpenter, Elementary Schoolteacher, Construction Worker II, Landscape Gardener, and Clergy Member; and opined the employee possessed the physical capacities to perform all physical activities of these job descriptions, effective April 15, 2003.

On June 9, 2003, Dr. Peterson and Marble clarified their April 15, 2003 report in three respects.  First, they opined the employee had been medically stable since September 6, 2002; second, they opined the employee had no PPI as a result of the August 27, 2001 work injury; and third, they indicated they did not feel the employee had either carpal tunnel syndrome or a mild traction injury to his right brachial plexus as a result of the August 27, 2001 work injury.

The Board ordered a second independent medical evaluation, which was conducted by Alan C. Roth, M.D., on October 17, 2003.  Dr. Roth holds certifications from the American Board of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation and the American Board of Electrodiagnostic Medicine.
  

Physical examination of the employee’s cervical range of motion revealed 100 percent of flexion/extension, right and left lateral rotation and side bending without cervical paraspinal tenderness.
 Dr. Roth found no thoracic or lumbosacral paraspinal tenderness upon examination of the employee's back; and the range of motion of the employee's lower back was normal.
  An upper extremity examination revealed normal range of motion of the employee's shoulders, elbows, wrists and fingers; strength was good throughout both upper extremities; and there was no crepitation of movement.
  The employee’s left hand grip strengths were 104, 106, and 102 pounds; while his right hand grip strength measurements were 90, 90, and 88 pounds.
  A lower extremity examination revealed normal range of motion of the employee's hips, knees and ankles, and strength throughout both lower extremities was normal.
  Neurological examination showed the employee to be fully alert and oriented; his reflexes were normal; and sensory testing throughout the employee's lower extremities was normal.
  Despite the employee's complaints of diminished sensation to the dorsum of his right hand, Dr. Roth found no diminished sensation to the palmar aspect of the employee's hand, indicating the diminished sensation to the dorsum of the hand was more or less diffuse in no particular nerve distribution.
  The employee's balance and gait were normal; he had full extraocular movement and memory; and his long and short-term memory were intact.

Dr. Roth ruled out carpal tunnel syndrome, cervical radiculopathy and peripheral neuropathy, based upon the right upper extremity EMG/NCS, which was normal.
  Dr. Roth’s review of the employee’s October 23, 2001 thoracic and upper lumbar spine and November 1, 2001 cervical spine x-rays revealed no notable findings.
  Dr. Roth stated:

Aside from the line over the odontoid on the 10/23/01 films, which appears to be a combination of shadows of bones, there are no notable findings on these x-rays.

Additionally, Dr. Roth indicated MRIs and CT scans demonstrated the absence of an odontoid fracture, edema or any significant pathology in the employee’s neck.

Dr. Roth's impression was:  status post blunt head trauma, without loss of consciousness; and no evidence of carpal tunnel syndrome or cervical radiculopathy clinically or electrodiagnostically.

A study completed in Dr. Roth's office, limited to the employee's right upper extremity, revealed no carpal tunnel syndrome or cervical radiculopathy.  Further, Dr. Roth noted, “Had carpal tunnel syndrome been demonstrated, the connection between the type of injury the patient underwent into carpal tunnel syndrome would be tenuous at best at any rate.”
  

Dr. Roth reviewed and compared Dr. Marble’s three reports and commented as follows:

I note that there is a great variety of findings, specifically range of motion at the neck seems to fluctuate.  It should be noted that at the time of my evaluation the range of motion at the neck was actually within normal limits, which is different than documented by Dr. Marble at the last visit.  It should be noted that Dr. Marble had found when the patient was not specifically being examined and when more casually observed, findings were apparently improved.  Further, I note that Dr. Marble and Dr. Peterson had found a very significant grip strength loss on the right dominant side.  (Of note: While there was slight grip strength loss on the right side of probably 10 - 20 %, his grip strength on his right dominant side was, in my office, three times as forceful as when Dr. Marble examined him, suggesting the possibility of submaximal effort unless there was very substantial improvement during the interval period).

Dr. Roth responded to the inquiry, what medical condition or disorders related to the employee’s head, neck, right upper extremity, right shoulder, low back and right leg did the employee have since the August 27, 2001 work injury, as follows:

The patient sustained a closed head trauma and probably compressive injury to his cervical spine.  The low back and right leg complaints are somewhat distressing, given that the lower extremity complaints were not documented by either Dr. Pulver nor any other physician until very recently.  He does not appear to have a significant lumbosacral radiculopathy and it is possible that his low back and leg complaints came on as a result of his non-industrial exposure to shoveling rocks or perhaps was related to using the backhoe.  He does not appear that these were related in any manner to his head and neck injury.

Dr. Roth opined, based on the physical examination and electrodiagnostic studies, the employee does not have carpal tunnel syndrome; and on a more likely than not basis, the employee did not sustain a brachial plexus injury.
  Dr. Roth opined the work injury did not cause the employee’s back or leg complaints, and stated:

[B]ased on the mechanisms of injury and the records review, as well as the history and physical examination, the August 27, 2001 injury did not cause, aggravate or accelerate his back and leg discomfort.

Dr. Roth indicated he did not believe the treatment the employee received after October 7, 2002 was reasonable or necessary, or within the realm of medically accepted options for the process of recovery from his work injury, stating:

The patient had reached a point of medical stability at that point and thus measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury would not have been expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, and in fact his further passive chiropractic care offered little in terms of functional improvement on relief of discomfort.

Dr. Roth indicated the employee could undergo an EMG/NCS of his lumbosacral spine with possible MRI of the lower back; however, need for such treatment is not as result of the August 27, 2001 work injury.
  Dr. Roth opined the employee requires no further treatment or testing for his neck and upper extremity complaints; he requires no surgery for carpal tunnel syndrome, as he has none; he requires no neck surgery; and no further physical therapy or chiropractic care is required.
  

Dr. Roth opined the employee was medically stable as of October 7, 2002, and has the physical capabilities to work as an elementary school teacher, and carpenter – construction, which requires exertional force of 20-50 pounds occasionally, 10 – 25 pounds frequently, or up to 10 pounds constantly.
  In terms of the employee’s cervical spine, Dr. Roth found no measurable loss of range of motion, therefore, rated the employee at zero percent PPI.
  Additionally, he found zero percent impairment of the whole person is appropriate for DRE cervical category I, based upon the lack of significant clinical findings.
  However, considering the employee's grip strength loss, Dr. Roth opined that on a more likely than not basis, the employee had a 10 percent dominate grasp loss; and under the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Fifth Edition, found this equivalent to a six percent impairment of the whole person.
  Dr. Roth opined the work injury was a substantial factor in bringing about this permanent impairment.  
At some time after the employee’s evaluation by Dr. Roth, the employee was seen at Cross Road Medical Center for a flare that occurred three days prior to his appointment.  J. Allen, M.D., reported, “He had helped stack straw on a truck the day before, because he drove home, his neck “felt like gravel” when he moved, hurt, and popped quite a bit.”
  Dr. Alan noted the employee had been told he might have facet syndrome.
  
Dr. Allen's assessment was peripheral neuropathy due to prior cervical spine injury.
  Dr. Allen suggested repeat nerve conduction testing with a neurologist to pursue the suggestion the employee had a facet syndrome, in addition to prescription medications.

History of Wage Earnings of the Employee
The employer represented the employee was mistakenly overpaid.  Further, the employer stated it would not seek recovery of the overpayment beyond an offset of any compensation the Board finds the employee is entitled to.  

The employer submitted information regarding the employee’s annual earnings supplied from the Alaska Department of Labor. 

Year
Quarter

Employer




Earnings

Total for Year
2000
1

North Slope Borough School District

$12,974.61

2000
2

North Slope Borough School District

$  8,674.94

$21,649.55

2001
1

Copper River School District


$    180.00

2001
2

Library Services, Inc.



$    594.00

2001
3

Alcan Builders, Inc.



$ 2,592.00

2001
4

Library Services, Inc.



$    963.00

$  4,329.00

The employee asserts his compensation rate should be calculated to provide him the maximum compensation.  The employer argues that the employee’s compensation rate was calculated in error under AS 23.30.220(a)(4)(B), as if the employee were a permanent employee.  Further the employer asserts the compensation rate arrived at under this formula was not calculated properly, resulting in a weekly overpayment of $6.81.  Finally, the employer asserts the employee’s compensation rate should have been calculated using AS 23.30.220(a)(6), and under this formula, the employee’s weekly rate would have been $154.00, resulting in a weekly overpayment of $480.23.

The employee was paid $17,599.84 in .041(k) benefits from September 7, 2002 to April 14, 2003.  The employer paid .041(k) benefits because the employee was being evaluated to determine if he was eligible for reemployment benefits.  The employee was not found eligible, and he did not appeal that decision.  The employee has been paid more in .041(k) benefits than he would have been due under PPI benefits for a six percent PPI of the whole person, $12,390.00.  The employer represented at hearing that it will not seek to recover any overpaid benefits beyond an allowable offset from benefits the Board may find are due the employee.

C.
Witness Testimony
Holly James

Holly James, the employee’s wife, testified at hearing.  Mrs. James testified that there was a difference in the employee’s ability to work before and after his work injury.  She testified before the injury he worked 12-hour days building their home, and was able to grip the hammer the entire time.  She testified that since the injury he can grip the hammer only three hours and his strength is greatly reduced.  She testified the employee’s arms and legs become knotted and numb.  She testified that the interruption the injury caused to life is quite significant, that the employee's sleep is interrupted, and she has to massage him so that he can sleep, so that she can sleep.

Mrs. James testified that at the end of July 2002, the employee thought his condition had improved, and worked very hard on things around the house.  She testified that after the hard work the employee's condition flared; he had shooting pain going through his arms, and he could not hold a toothbrush.  

Mrs. James testified that in the winters of 2002 to 2003 and 2003 to 2004, the employee drove to Missouri for the winters.  She testified that for the 2002 to 2003 winter trip, she drove with the employee and did most of the driving.  For the 2003 to 2004 trip, she testified the employee drove down to Missouri and back himself on the Alcan Highway.

Mrs. James testified that there are doctors in the area where the employee went for the winters of 2002 to 2003 and 2003 to 2004.

Mrs. James testified regarding positions the employee has held and work he has performed in the past.  She testified the employee worked as a teacher for the North Slope Borough School District at Wainwright from the Fall of 1998 through the Spring of 2000.  She testified that the employee worked for Lake Peninsula School District for one year before he worked for the North Slope Borough School District.  She testified that they then moved to Kenny Lake and although there was a possibility for the employee to work as a teacher, he did not want to.

Nathan James

Nathan James testified at the hearing.  Nathan is the 10-year old son of the employee.  Nathan testified he recalls his father being injured.  Nathan testified he has to pound his dad’s legs and back every night, then he goes to bed and his mom does it for an hour.  Nathan testified his father used to roughhouse with him, and his brothers and sisters; that they would play on the bed, his father would pick them up and swing them frequently.  Nathan testified his father does not do it much anymore.  He testified his father may start to play and then he will have to stop because he hurts.

Jamie James
The employee testified at the hearing.  He testified that all doctors he has seen agree that he has significant symptoms related to his work injury.  He testified that Dr. Humphreys believes the employee’s eye symptoms are related to his injury.  He testified that Dr. Pulver noted that at the end of July, when the employee had a flare up, the symptoms were all his original symptoms.  The employee testified that Dr. Weinberger prescribed the same medication for a “flare” as was prescribed after the work injury.  

The employee testified that, in error, Dr. Marble declared him medically stable after the first evaluation, despite the progress the employee was making.  He testified that he shared the story with Drs. Marble and Roth that he shared with the Board in his pre-hearing brief.  

The employee testified that he attempted to contact Carolyn West of Alaska National Insurance Company two weeks before he left.  He testified that Ms. West was unavailable by phone.  He testified he left numerous messages, but gave up after several weeks.  He testified that he did not write to Ms. West because he does not write much.  The employee testified that because he was unable to make contact with Ms. West, he was unsure doctors in Missouri would be paid; and, therefore, he was not treated while in Missouri because his finances did not allow for the expense.  

The employee testified that in July 2002, he was shoveling gravel in his driveway to fix up his house.  He testified that he thought he had improved enough to do that type work.  However, he testified that after doing the work, he had a flare up and had to go to the Cross Road Medical Center Emergency Room on July 27, 2002.  

The employee testified that on July 29, 2002, Dr. Pulver released him to return to work.  He testified he thought, at the time, he would be able to work, but working caused his condition to flare.

The employee testified that after his Spring 2002 trip outside, Dr. Willis indicated he had degenerative changes due to the trip.  He testified that while he was undergoing treatment he was improving, but when he returned in May 2002, he was stiffer and in more pain.

The employee testified he saw Dr. Humphreys on one occasion for a thorough eye exam.  Based upon Dr. Humphreys’ report to the employee, the employee testified if Dr. Humphreys had done a thorough eye exam prior to the work injury, Dr. Humphreys could have determined if the work injury caused the employee’s eye issues.  The employee testified that Dr. Humphreys told him the symptoms should diminish with time.  The employee testified his right pupil response time was still slow and sluggish compared to the left, and the upper half of his right retina is pale.

The employee testified he is entitled to TTD from April 13, 2001 through June 23, 2004, because he made phone calls to Carolyn West, Claims Adjuster, to arrange for treatment while he was out of the state.  He testified that on one occasion when he spoke with Ms. West she stated treatment while he was out of state would be covered.  Further, he testified that before he left, and while on the road, he attempted to contact her again.  He testified that arrangements for treatment could not be made because his phone calls to Ms. West were not returned.  

The employee testified that he was a fulltime employee for the employer.  He testified he planned to work for the employer for a couple of years to get ahead so he could finish his house.  He testified that he had an extensive history in construction. 

The employee testified that all employees on the job expected to work 72 hours per week for the entire summer.

Sherrie Arbuckle

Sherrie Arbuckle testified at the hearing.  She is a Claims Examiner with Alaska National Insurance Company.

Ms. Arbuckle testified she was not the Claims Examiner when the employee’s file was first established; at that time, Carolyn West was the Claims Examiner for the employee’s file.

Ms. Arbuckle testified that Ms. West erroneously calculated the employee’s compensation rate.  She testified that because the employee had worked for the employer less than 13 weeks, Ms. West should have used a wage sample from the 13 week period immediately preceding the employee’s injury, but that Ms. West used the best 13 weeks of sample wages to determine what the employee would have earned for the 13 weeks immediately preceding the injury.  Under Ms. West’s calculations, Ms. Arbuckle testified that the sum of those 13 weeks divided by 13 was $936.00, and Ms. West then looked to the 2001 Workers’ Compensation rate tables considering the employee’s marital status and number of dependent children to determine the employee's compensation rate.  Ms. Arbuckle testified this calculation resulted in a $6.81 weekly overpayment using the AS 23.30.220(a)(4)(B) formula. 

Ms. Arbuckle testified that she would have spoken to both the employee and the employer to determine if the employee was a temporary or permanent employee prior to using the calculations set out in AS 23.30.220(a)(4)(B).  
Ms. Arbuckle testified the employee's compensation rate should have been calculated using AS 23.30.220(a)(6), because, after speaking with the employer, she learned the employee was a temporary/seasonal employee.  

Cole Baurick

Cole Baurick testified at the hearing.  Mr. Baurick is a superintendent/project manager for Alcan Builders. He was the  superintendent of the Copper River Princess Lodge construction project that employed the employee.  

Mr. Baurick testified the employee was hired to work on the Copper River Princess Lodge project, and was not hired until about one-third of the way through the project.  He testified the employee was hired to work as a carpenter's helper.  He testified the employee’s credentials were sketchy, however, he needed a carpenter's helper so he hired the employee.  

Mr. Baurick testified, upon being hired, the employee told Mr. Baurick he wanted to earn money to move to Anchorage to work as a teacher.  

Mr. Baurick testified that it would not be necessary to keep employees on past completion of the project, unless they were finish carpenters who showed initiative.  In that case, he testified, he would have kept employees on until January 2002.  However, he testified the employee would not have been selected to stay on the project, as he was not a finish carpenter and his skills were not needed.

Mr. Baurick testified that when the employee was hired, it was typical for employees to work 72 hour weeks; and that they worked five or six 12 hour days per week.  Mr. Baurick testified the Copper River Princess Lodge project lasted from May 2001 to May 2002.  Mr. Baurick testified the employee would only have been kept on the job through January 2002.

D.
The Parties’ Arguments

Employee’s Arguments 

The employee claims that in the course and scope of his employment he was involved in an accident in which a piece of lumber came loose and struck the back of his head, and that he has suffered injuries from that accident for which he is entitled to benefits.  

Employer’s Arguments

The employer claims that the employee’s only work-related injuries were head and neck conditions that have been medically stable since the fall of 2002, and because those conditions have resolved, no further medical care is reasonable or necessary, and the employee is not entitled to any additional benefits for his cervical conditions.  

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I. Compensation Rate Computation

The Board shall first address the employee’s claim that he is entitled to a compensation rate adjustment.  The employee argues he was a fulltime, permanent employee for the employer and that he is entitled to the “maximum” compensation rate.  The employer argues the employee’s compensation rate was calculated in error under a misunderstanding on the part of the Claims Examiner that the employee was a permanent employee.  Further, the employer argues that the method used to calculate the employee’s compensation rate as a permanent employee used an erroneous 13-week period.    The employer further argues that the employee held a temporary employee status and his compensation rate should be calculated using AS 23.30.220(a)(6).

AS 23.30.220 provides, in part:

Determination of spendable weekly wage. (a) Computation of compensation under this chapter shall be on the basis of an employee’s spendable weekly wage at the time of injury.  An employee’s spendable weekly wage is the employee’s gross weekly earnings minus payroll tax deductions. An employee’s gross weekly earnings shall be calculated as follows:

. . .

(4) if at the time of injury the

(A) employee’s earnings are calculated by the day, hour, or by the output of the employee, the employee’s gross weekly earnings are the employee’s earnings most favorable to the employee computed by dividing by 13 the employee’s earnings, including overtime or premium pay, earned during any period of 13 consecutive calendar weeks within the 52 weeks immediately preceding the injury; 

(B) employee has been employed for less than 13 calendar weeks immediately preceding the injury, then, notwithstanding (1) – (3) of this subsection and (A) of this paragraph, the employee's gross weekly earnings are computed by determining the amount of the employee would have earned, including overtime or premium pay, had the employee been employed by the employer for 13 calendar weeks immediately preceding the injury and dividing this sum by 13;

(5) if at the time of injury the employee’s earnings have not been fixed or cannot be ascertained, the employee’s earnings for the purpose of calculating compensation are the usual wage for similar services when the services are rendered by paid employees;

(6) if at the time of injury the employment is exclusively seasonal or temporary, then, notwithstanding (1)-(5) of this subsection, the gross weekly earnings are 1/50th of the total wages that the employee has earned from all occupations during the calendar year immediately preceding the injury;

. . . .

Over the years, the Alaska Supreme Court has consistently held that a primary purpose of the various historical versions of the compensation rate sections of the workers’ compensation law is to accurately predict what an injured worker's earnings would have been but for the worker’s injury.
  Further, the legislature concurred when it declared in the preamble to the amendments that one of the purposes of determining gross weekly wages is to insure a fair approximation of a claimant’s probable future earning capacity during the period in which compensation benefits are to be paid.
  

In Gilmore v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court declared former AS 23.30.220 to be in violation of the equal protection clause of the Alaska Constitution, as applied in that case, because the formula would result in substantially different compensation rates for similarly situated claimants.
  In 1995, the legislature rewrote AS 23.30.220 in response to the Court’s decision in Gilmore, and created several options for calculating compensation rates for injured workers, giving that section of the statute its present form.  In Dougan v. Aurora Electric Inc.,
 the Alaska Supreme Court noted:  

The holding in Gilmore is largely based on the fact that wage determinations under the prior version of the statute based compensation rates exclusively on the average wage earned during a period of over a year without providing an alternate approach if the result was unfair.  The amended version of AS 23.30.220 corrects that problem by providing a variety of formulas for differing employment situations.  The board correctly applied the new version of AS 23.30.220(a) when it initially calculated Dougans [sic] compensation rate.  The amended statute closely follows the model law cited in Gilmore as an example of a statute that would not violate the Equal Protection Clause.

In Justice v. RMH Aero Logging, Inc., 
 the Court held that where past wage levels are an accurate predictor of losses due to injury, the Board must apply the statutory formula unless there is substantial evidence that past wage levels will lead to an irrational award.
  

Applying the Court's directions in Dougan and Justice, the Board applies the provision of 
AS 23.30.220 that most closely fits the earnings fact-pattern in any given claim.  In the instant case, the parties dispute which section of AS 23.30.220 applies to the employee.  The employee asserts he was a permanent employee, presumably entitled to a compensation rate calculated under AS 23.30.220(a)(4)(B).
  The employer asserts that the employee’s compensation rate was calculated erroneously.  As an initial matter, the employer argues that the rate the employee was paid, calculated under AS 23.30.220(a)(4)(B) based upon the earnings of another employee of the employer, was erroneously based upon the highest 13 week period during the prior year, and not the 13 weeks immediately preceding the employee’s injury, as required under AS 23.30.220(a)(4)(B).  The employer asserts if the employee were entitled to a wage rate calculation under this section of the statute, application of this formula would result in a deduction from the employee’s compensation rate by $6.81 per week.  In the alternative, the employer argues the employee was not entitled to a wage rate calculation under AS 23.30.220(a)(4)(B), because he was a temporary employee and his compensation rate should have been calculated under the formula set out in AS 23.30.220(a)(6).

In deciding whether the employee was a permanent or a temporary worker, the Board first looks to the specific language of AS 23.30.220(a)(6), and whether the employee’s job was “exclusively” temporary.  Under 
AS 23.30.122 we find the employer’s witness Cole Baurick to be credible and afford his testimony considerable weight in deciding this issue.  The Board finds Mr. Baurick hired the employee exclusively to work on the Copper River Princess Lodge construction project.  Further, based upon the employee’s testimony that all employees on the job expected to work 72 hours per week for the entire summer, the Board finds the employee was aware of the fact he was hired as a temporary employee, exclusively to work on the Copper River Princess Lodge project.

The Board finds that the claims examiner used the wrong statute to calculate the employee’s compensation rate, and in calculating the compensation rate under AS 23.30.220(a)(4)(B), used the wrong 13-week sample wage period.  The Board finds the parties stipulated that the employer will not seek recovery of this overpayment beyond the offset of any compensation the Board finds the employee entitled to.
  

In summary, in applying the specific facts of the employee's work to the statutory scheme of 
AS 23.30.220, the Board finds the employee's work is most accurately characterized as temporary work.  The Board finds AS 23.30.220(a)(6) most accurately predicts the employee's expected earnings during the period he received TTD, PPI, and .041(k) benefits.  

II. Is the Employee Entitled to Additional Benefits?


A.
Applicable Laws

The injured worker is afforded a presumption that all the benefits he or she seeks are compensable.
  
AS 23.30.120(a) states, in relevant part, as follows: 

In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that 

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter.

The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  The employee need only adduce “some” “minimal” relevant evidence
 establishing a “preliminary link” between the injury claimed and employment
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.

The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.
  First, the employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the disability and his or her employment.  Second, once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury was not work related.
  To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence that the injury was not work-related.
  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, the Board examines the employer’s evidence in isolation.

There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: (1) produce substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.
  "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  The Board defers questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer's evidence until after it has decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles him to compensation benefits.
  

The third step of the presumption analysis provides that, if the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must "induce a belief" in the mind of the trier of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.
 

B. The Employee’s Right to Additional Benefits

1. TTD Benefits
The employee claims TTD benefits from April 14, 2002 through June 23, 2002, and from October 7, 2002 through April 10, 2004.  With regard to the employee’s claim for TTD from April 14, 2002 through June 23, 2002, the employer claims the employee went for over 45 days without measurable objective improvement because he was not being treated, that the employee was therefore presumed to be medically stable under AS 23.30.395(21), and the employee is unable to rebut the presumption.  For the period from October 7, 2002 through April 10, 2004, the employer claims the employee’s work-related conditions were resolved and no additional time-loss is appropriate.

AS 23.30.185 provides:

In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

In defining medical stability, AS 23.30.395(21) states medical stability:

…means the date after which further objectively measureable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence.

The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act defines "disability" as "incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment."
  The Act provides for benefits at 80% of the employee's spendable weekly wage during the continuance of disability either total or partial in character but temporary in quality."
  In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated:

The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.

The Alaska Supreme Court held in Meek v. Unocal Corp., "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  Further, past decision of the Court have indicated that the presumption applies to TTD benefits.
  

Accordingly, the Board shall apply the presumption analysis to the employee’s claims for TTD benefits.

a. TTD Benefits – April 14 through June 23, 2002

In the instant case, the employee testified concerning his work injury, its consequences, his inability to return to work, and his travel outside of Alaska during the period April 14 through June 23, 2002.  We find the documentary records contain the medical opinions of Dr. Willis indicating the employee was not medically stable prior to April 14, 2002 or after June 23, 2002.  Further, the Board finds the record contains no medical opinions during the period April 14 through June 23, 2002.  Following the Court's rationale in Meek, the Board must apply the presumption of compensability from AS 23.30.120(a)(1) to the employee’s claim for TTD benefits from April 14, 2002 through June 23, 2002.  The Board finds the claimant's testimony and the medical treatment records of Dr. Willis, both before and after this time period, are sufficient evidence to raise the presumption the employee was not medically stable during the period April 14, 2002 through June 23, 2002.  Additionally, the Board finds that the employee’s work injury prevented him from working during this time, entitling him to TTD benefits from April 14, 2002 through June 23, 2002.

The employer must overcome the presumption with substantial evidence and must present either affirmative evidence showing that the employee does not suffer temporary work‑related disability; or eliminate all reasonable possibilities that the temporary disability is work‑related.  

The presumption of medical stability in the statutory definition must be read in the context of the terms that “improvement . . . is not reasonably expected.”  To terminate the employee’s TTD benefits, the employer is required to show medical evidence to establish medical stability.  When the constitutionality
 of the medical stability provision was challenged, the Alaska Supreme Court held: 

The evidence is easily obtained by examining the treating physician.  That is, the treating physician should have no difficulty offering an opinion on whether or not further objectively measurable improvement is expected.  The 45-day provision simply signals when that proof is necessary.  The alleged difficulty in proving the nonexistence of medical stability, simply fades when viewed in light of the proof actually required.

The Alaska Supreme Court in Wollaston v. Schroeder Cutting Inc.,
 outlined three possible ways to overcome this presumption of compensability:  1) exclude the work-related injury as a cause of the employee’s continuing problems; 2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility that the work-related injury had continuing consequences; or 3) provide an expert opinion that the employee’s disability is probably not attributable in any substantial way to the work-related injury.
The employer justified its controversion of the employee’s TTD benefits, and argues it has overcome the presumption, by asserting there was no medical authorization for the employee’s ongoing disability from work; that there was no medical evidence of objectively measurable improvement within 45 days and that, therefore, medical stability was presumed.  Further, the employer asserts it has overcome the presumption based upon the 
February 5, 2002 report of Dr. Marble, the employer’s medical evaluator, who anticipated medical stability within three months.

In the instant case, the Board has reviewed the evidence relied upon by the employer in asserting it has overcome the presumption, and applied it to the options to overcome the presumption of compensability announced in Wollaston.  Based upon the fact that Dr. Marble had only one opportunity to examine the employee at the time he made his prediction the employee would be medically stable in three months, the Board does not place great weight on Dr. Marble’s opinion with regard to this issue.  Further, the Board finds Dr. Marble’s statements that the stability of the employee’s spine must be confirmed by a radiologist or neurosurgeon prior to a finding of medical stability, leads to an ambiguous expectation of medical stability.  Therefore, the Board is unable to find the employer has supplied substantial evidence required to meet any of the three means of overcoming the presumption described in Wollaston.  
Based upon the guidance provided in Wollaston, the Board finds the employer was not able to rebut the presumption of compensability with substantial evidence during time period April 14 through June 23, 2002, and the employee is entitled to TTD from April 14 through June 23, 2002.

Even if the Board were to find that the presumption was rebutted by the opinion of Dr. Marble and we were to turn to the third stage of the presumption analysis, the Board would find the employee has established his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Once substantial evidence shows the condition is not work-related, the presumption drops out, 
 and the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  

Accordingly, in reviewing the entire medical and hearing record, the Board finds that the employee has established a compensable claim for TTD benefits for the period April 14 through June 23, 2002, based upon the preponderance of the available evidence.  In arriving at this conclusion, the Board gives greater weight to the reports of Dr. Willis, the employee’s treating chiropractor, who was familiar with the employee before his trip to Missouri and continued to treat him after his return.  The Board finds Dr. Marble had only one opportunity to examine and evaluate the employee upon providing his February 5, 2002 opinion, which was that he expected the employee to be medically stable within three months from the date of the examination.  Further, as noted above, the Board found Dr. Marble’s prediction at odds with his recommendation that a radiologist or neurologist should confirm the stability of the employee’s spine prior to a finding of medical stability.  

Thus, under either scenario, the employee prevails whether he has the benefit of the presumption analysis under 
AS 23.30.120 or if he is simply required to establish his claim by a preponderance of the available evidence, which the Board believes he has with regard to this issue.  For these reasons, the Board concludes the employee has established that the claim for TTD from April 14 through June 23, 2002, is compensable.  

b. TTD Benefits – October 7, 2002 through April 10, 2003

In addressing the employee’s claim for TTD benefits from October 7, 2002 through April 10, 2003, again the Board finds the employee introduced sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of compensability.
  In fact, the employer concedes that the presumption has attached.
  The Board finds sufficient evidence to raise the presumption that the employee’s work injury prevented him from working following his injury, and that he is entitled to TTD benefits from October 7, 2002 through April 10, 2003.  

The Board applied the presumption analysis, as outlined above, to the employee’s claim for TTD benefits from October 7, 2002 through April 10, 2003.  Additionally, § 185 limits the duration of TTD benefits to the date of medical stability as defined in AS 23.30.395(21).  The presumption of medical stability in the statutory definition must be read in the context of the terms that "improvement. . . is not reasonably expected": To terminate the employee’s TTD benefits, the employer is required to show medical evidence to establish medical stability.  When the constitutionality
 of the medical stability provision was challenged, The Alaska Supreme Court  held: 

The evidence is easily obtained by examining the treating physician.  That is, the treating physician should have no difficulty offering an opinion on whether or not further objectively measurable improvement is expected.  The 45-day provision simply signals when that proof is necessary.  The alleged difficulty in proving the nonexistence of medical stability, simply fades when viewed in light of the proof actually required. 

In the absence of any other explicitly required burden of proof to show medical stability, we conclude the employer must show medical stability by a preponderance of the evidence, as is standard in administrative law proceedings.
  Once medical stability is established and has continued for 45 days, it is presumed to continue until overcome by clear and convincing evidence.
  

In the second stage of the analysis, based upon the Board’s review of the testimony and the documentary record, and without weighing credibility, the Board finds the opinion of Dr. Roth indicates the employee could return to his work effective October 7, 2002.  The Board finds this is substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of compensability of the employee’s claim for TTD benefits related to his work injury from October 7, 2002 through April 10, 2003.
  

Once substantial evidence shows the condition is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  Accordingly, the Board has reviewed the entire medical and hearing record in this case to determine whether the employee has proven his claim, that he is entitled to TTD benefits from October 7, 2002 through April 10, 2003, by a preponderance of the evidence.  The Board concludes he has not.

In support of his position, the employee presents the opinion of Dr. Willis who continued to maintain the employee had not reached medical stability.  The Board finds the opinions of Drs. Roth, Marble and Peterson directly conflict with that of Dr. Willis.  

Dr. Roth opined the employee was medically stable on October 7, 2002.  The Board finds Dr. Roth conducted an independent examination of the employee, and a thorough analysis of the entirety of the employee’s medical records.  The Board gives greater weight to the opinions of Dr. Roth as they are well reasoned and factually based.  The Board finds Dr. Roth holds certifications from the American Board of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation and the American Board of Electrodiagnostic Medicine.  The Board finds Dr. Roth’s credentials and expertise lend credibility to his findings and opinion.  The Board finds Dr. Roth based his opinion upon electrodiagnostic findings, which revealed the employee did not incur an odontoid fracture, carpal tunnel syndrome, a brachial plexus injury, edema, or any other pathology in the employee's neck.  The Board finds the opinions of Drs. Marble and Peterson support that of Dr. Roth.

The Board finds Dr. Willis, a chiropractor, is not board-certified and does not possess expertise in electrodiagnostic medicine.  The Board finds the reports of Dr. Willis provided scant objective evidence to support or substantiate the employee’s claim that he was not medically stable on October 7, 2002.  

For the forgoing reasons, the Board gives substantially more weight to the opinions of Drs. Roth, Marble, and Peterson.  We find the preponderance of the medical evidence supports the finding that the employee was medically stable on October 7, 2002.  As the employee was medically stable on October 7, 2002, the Board concludes it must deny and dismiss the employee’s claim for TTD benefits for the period October 7, 2002 thorough April 10, 2004.  


2.  Medical Benefits

a. Continuing Medical Benefits – Chiropractic Care

AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires....

The Alaska Supreme Court held the presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) also specifically applies to claims for medical benefits.
  Treatment must be reasonable and necessary to be payable under 
AS 23.30.095(a).
  

In order to establish the presumption of entitlement to medical benefits in this case, the employee relies on the medical opinion of Dr. Willis that the employee’s medical condition is substantially related to his work for the employer, and the February 3, 2003 opinion of Dr. Willis that the employee needed an additional six months of therapy.  The Board finds this evidence is sufficient to establish the presumption of compensability for the continued medical benefit of chiropractic treatment recommended by the employee’s treating physician.  The employer must submit substantial evidence to rebut the presumption of entitlement to these continuing benefits.  

AS 23.30.105(a) provides, in part:

(a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. However, if the condition requiring the treatment, apparatus, or medicine is a latent one, the two-year period runs from the time the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee's disability and its relationship to the employment and after disablement. It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board. The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require. When medical care is required, the injured employee may designate a licensed physician to provide all medical and related benefits.

In most circumstances, to overcome a presumption once it attaches, the employer must present substantial evidence that the medical benefits claimed are not compensable.
  In Hibdon,
 however, the Alaska Supreme Court held specific medical treatment sought by an injured worker, within two years of an injury is compensable, unless the employer can meet the “heavy burden” of proving such care is unreasonable, unnecessary and outside the scope of accepted medical practice.  The Court’s decision develops the presumption analysis, as first articulated in Carter, by making the employer’s burden of rebutting the compensability of a particular treatment much greater than a “preponderance of the evidence.”  Between two legitimate, yet contradictory opinions about the efficacy of treatment, the employee may choose to follow the recommendations of his/her own physician.  The employer must demonstrate the treatment is neither reasonable, necessary, nor within the realm of acceptable medical practice.
  
The Board notes that the medical benefits claimed by the employee are within the two-year time limit of Hibdon.  The employer argues the employee’s work injury has resolved and disputes that the employee’s need for further medical treatment is not related to his work injury.  As the employee has established the presumption, the employer must present substantial evidence that the medical benefits claimed are not compensable.

Based on the reports of Drs. Peterson. Marble and Roth, who concurred and concluded that the employee’s conditions are not substantially related to his work, we find the employer has presented substantial evidence to overcome the presumption.  Therefore, the employee must prove his claims by a preponderance of the evidence.

With regard to the employee’s claim for chiropractic care, the Board finds conflicting medical evidence in the record.  Dr. Willis opined the employee would need at least six additional months of intensive therapy, including a more intensive daily program with deeper soft tissue and mobilization work and a more intensive work hardening exercise program, in addition to manipulative therapy.  The Board finds Drs. Peterson and Marble opined that further chiropractic care was not indicated for the employee’s work related conditions.  Further, the Board finds 
Dr. Roth opined that in terms of the employee’s upper extremity complaints and neck, the employee requires no further treatment or testing.  The Board finds it is the opinion of Dr. Roth that the employee requires no surgery for carpel tunnel syndrome, as the employee does not have the condition.  The Board finds Dr. Roth opines the employee requires no neck surgery and no further physical therapy or chiropractic care.  Finally, the Board finds Dr. Roth is of the opinion that any treatment received by the employee after he reached a point of medical stability was not reasonable, necessary, or within the realm of medically accepted options for the process of recovery from the employee’s work injury.

The Board finds the record in this case does not support the employee’s claim for ongoing medical treatment.  Further, the Board finds the employer has met the heavy burden of proving such care is unreasonable, unnecessary and outside the scope of accepted medical practice.  The Board is reluctant to place great weight on the opinion of Dr. Willis, the employee’s treating chiropractor.  The Board finds Dr. Willis made frequent errors in the employee’s diagnoses and in the completion of the Physician’s Reports.  Further, the Board finds the Physician’s Reports completed by Dr. Willis and filed with the Board were not well reasoned or informative.  In fact, they appeared to merely be a copied Physician’s Form with a change in only the applicable dates.  The Board does not find Dr. Willis to be credible with regard to the employee’s need for continued medical treatment.  

The Board finds that Dr. Roth opined, on a more probable than not basis, the employee’s continuing complaints are not work-related, and any need for further treatment is not as a result of the August 27, 2001 injury.  The Board finds Dr. Roth to be credible and affords his testimony considerable weight in deciding this issue.  The Board finds Dr. Roth conducted a through review of the employee’s medical records and conducted a thorough examination of the employee.  The Board finds Dr. Roth provides well-reasoned findings and opinions; and that he represents an independent medical opinion.  Additionally, the Board finds the April 15, 2003 report of the EME physicians, Drs. Peterson and Marble, supports Dr. Roth’s opinion.  

As the Board concludes the employee’s need for continued medical care is no longer related to his August 27, 2001 work injury, accordingly, the Board must deny and dismiss the employee’s claim for continued medical benefits.

b. Medical Costs Incurred During a Period When the Employee’s Benefits Were Controverted
The employee claims he is entitled to medical costs of approximately $200.00 incurred during a period when his benefits were controverted.  Pursuant to AS 23.30.095(a), the employer is responsible to furnish medical benefits for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires.  In this case, the employee's benefits were controverted on two separate occasions.  During the first period of controversion, April 15, 2002 through June 23, 2002, the Board found by preponderance of the evidence that the employee was not medically stable and his benefits should not have been controverted.  The employer controverted the employee's benefits the second time on October 7, 2002.  The Board found that the preponderance of the evidence supported the finding that the employee was medically stable and that further medical treatment was not reasonable, necessary, or within the realm of medically accepted options for the process of recovery from the employee’s work injury.

Based upon the record in this case, the Board has found no evidence of medical costs incurred by the employee during a period in which his benefits had been controverted.  If, however, there is proof of medical expenses in the sum of $200.00, incurred by the employee from April 14, 2002 through June 23, 2002, the Board finds the employer is responsible for those expenses pursuant to AS 23.30.095(a).  On the other hand, if the $200.00 of claimed medical expenses were incurred on or after October 7, 2002, the Board finds the employer shall not be responsible, as those expenses are not within a period during which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery required medical treatment.

C. Penalties and Interest

1. Penalties

AS 23.30.115(a) states: 

Compensation under this chapter shall be paid periodically, promptly, and directly to the person entitled to it, without an award, except where liability to pay compensation is controverted by the employer.

AS 23.30.155(e) states:

If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to the conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment.

The Board finds that the employee was not paid time loss for the period during which he was entitled to it, 
April 15 through June 23, 2002.  The employee maintains that the employer should pay a penalty in this case.  The employer based the April 26, 2002 controversion on the lack of medical authorization for ongoing disability and release from work.  The Board finds the controversion was founded upon a reasonable legal theory and, therefore, finds the controversion was filed in good faith.  The Board declines to impose penalties in connection with the controversion.

2. Interest

AS 23.30.155(p) provides, in part:

An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due.  Interest required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in AS 09.30.070(a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due.

8 AAC 45.142, governing the payment of interest, states in part: 

If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010 for an injury that occurred before July 1, 2000, and at the rate established in AS 09.30.070(a) for an injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

For injuries which occurred on or after July 1, 2000, AS 23.30.155(p) and our regulation at 8 AAC 45.142 requires the payment of interest at a statutory rate, as provided at AS 09.30.070(a), from the date at which each installment of compensation, including medical compensation, is due.
  The Courts have consistently instructed the Board to award interest to claimants for the time value of money, as a matter of course.  The Board finds that the employee was not paid the benefits to which he was entitled and interest is due.  AS 23.30.155(p) requires payment of interest at the statutory rate from the date at which each installment or payment of compensation is due.
  The statutory rate is prescribed in AS 09.30.070(a).  The Board finds that the employer is obligated to pay interest on the TTD benefits to which the employee is entitled.
  Further, the Board finds that the employer is obligated to pay interest on the employee’s unpaid medical benefits, if proof of unpaid medical benefits during the period April 14 though June 23, 2002 is provided.  Accordingly, the Board will award interest to the employee, in accord with AS 23.30.155(p), on all unpaid benefits awarded by this decision, from the dates on which those benefits were due.

D. Application of Offset Provisions
The Board finds that the employer has overpaid TTD benefits to the employee, the question then becomes at what rate the employer should recoup that overpayment.  Recovery of an overpayment is governed by 
AS 23.30.155(j), which provides:

If an employer has made advance payments or overpayment of compensation, the employer is entitled to be reimbursed by withholding up to 20 percent out of each unpaid installment or installments of compensation due.  More than 20 percent of unpaid installments of compensation due may be withheld from an employee only on approval of the board.

Although the statute generally fixes the offset rate at 20%, it grants the Board discretion to order an enhanced offset should the Board find this is warranted.  Given the facts in this case, the Board finds the employee was overpaid benefits, albeit through no fault of his own.  However, based upon the Board’s approval of the parties’ stipulation that the employer shall not pursue those benefits overpaid beyond the amount it may recoup through an offset, the Board finds it appropriate to allow a 100 percent offset of those benefits found to be due. 


ORDER
1. As a temporary employee, the employee’s compensation rate is appropriately calculated under the formula of AS 23.30.220(a)(6).
2. The employer shall pay the employee TTD benefits under AS 23.30.185, from April 15, 2002 through 
June 23, 2002, calculated using the formula set out in AS 23.30.220(a)(6).
3. The employer overpaid the employee based upon use of the formula of AS 23.30.220(a)(4)(B) to calculate weekly compensation.  The employer is entitled to an offset.  The offset shall be reached by subtracting the TTD benefits to which the employee is entitled for the period April 14, 2002 through June 23, 2002 from the amount overpaid.  
4. The employee’s claim for TTD benefits under AS 23.30.185 for the period October 7, 2002 through April 10, 2003 is denied and dismissed.
5. The employer is not responsible for continuing medical costs for chiropractic care or medical treatment, as further medical treatment is not reasonable, necessary, or within the realm of medically accepted options for the process of recovery from the employee’s work injury as of October 7, 2002.

6. The employee must provide to the employer within 14 days of receipt of this order, proof of any medical costs incurred during the April 14 through June 23, 2002 period of controversion.  The employer shall be responsible for reimbursing the employee within 14 days of receipt of proof of incurred medical expenses during this period.

7. The employee’s claim for penalties under AS 23.30.155(e) is denied and dismissed.
8. The employer shall pay interest under AS 23.30.155(p) and 8 AAC 45.142, on all late-paid benefits awarded in this decision, from the date each installment of compensation was due.  Interest on the medical benefits shall be paid to the medical provider unless the employee has paid the medical bills.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on December  27, 2004.
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If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court. 

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

RECONSIDERATION
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MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 
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